

Home > Education, training and skills

> Ofqual guide for schools and colleges 2024



Guidance

Ofqual guide for schools and colleges 2024

Published 20 November 2023

Applies to England

Contents

About this guide

Roles and responsibilities

Exams and assessment arrangements for the academic year 2023-24

Grading

Grading arrangements for VTQs and Technical Qualifications within T Levels in the academic year 2023 to 2024

Resilience arrangements

Before exams and assessments

During exams and assessments

Special consideration

After exams or assessments

Reviews and appeals for GCSEs, AS A levels and Technical Qualifications within T Levels

Complaints

Whistleblowing

Further information and useful links

Equality Advisory and Support Services



© Crown copyright 2023

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit <u>nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3</u> or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: <u>psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk</u>.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofqual-guide-for-schools-and-colleges-2024/ofqual-guide-for-schools-and-colleges-2024

About this guide

This guide explains what schools, colleges and other exam or assessment centres can expect from awarding organisations regulated by Ofqual.

In this guide we use the term schools and colleges to refer to schools, colleges and other exam or assessment centres. The guide also explains the arrangements for qualifications in 2023-24. Where this guide refers to "you" it is referring to a school or college that offers qualifications regulated by Ofqual. We expect the main users of this guide to be those supporting students through their qualifications.

This guide covers qualifications which are typically taken in an academic year in schools or colleges including GCSEs, AS and A levels, Technical Qualifications within a T Level and vocational and technical qualifications (VTQs) that are on the Department for Education's performance tables (Department for Education for Education

On demand assessments such as Functional Skills Qualifications, English for Speakers of Other Languages, End-Point Assessments of apprenticeships and other VTQs not included on the Department for Education's performance tables are out of scope of this guide.

This guide should be read in conjunction with any awarding organisation or <u>Joint Council for Qualifications (JCQ) (https://www.jcq.org.uk/)</u> guidance relevant to your qualifications. If you are unsure of any aspect of a qualification and for qualification specific queries, you should speak to the relevant awarding organisation for more information on these qualifications.

Roles and responsibilities

Ofqual

Ofqual regulates awarding organisations that design, deliver and award qualifications and apprenticeship end-point assessments in England. Ofqual controls entry to the regulated market, and we create rules and provide guidance for awarding organisations to help make sure regulated qualifications are fit for purpose, valid and delivered securely.

Ofqual has a common set of rules for all qualifications regulated by us called the <u>General Conditions of Recognition (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ofqual-handbook)</u>. There are additional rules and guidance that are specific to certain qualifications, for example for GCSEs, AS, A levels, Technical Qualifications within T Levels and Technical Awards.

A full list of Ofqual's rules and guidance, and the qualifications they apply to, can be found on <u>Ofqual's website (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/awarding-organisations-understanding-our-regulatory-requirements)</u>.

Not all qualifications have the protection of regulation by Ofqual. You can find information on the organisations and the qualifications that Ofqual regulates in the <u>Register of Regulated Qualifications (https://register.ofqual.gov.uk/)</u>. Where a qualification is not regulated by Ofqual, you should contact the awarding organisation for further information.

Ofqual does not regulate schools or colleges so we do not place any requirements directly on them. But some of our rules for awarding organisations affect the way they must interact with schools and colleges and the obligations awarding organisations place on them. This can include awarding organisations requiring schools and colleges to take on roles in the delivery and conduct of assessments. This reflects the important role schools and colleges play in making sure the qualifications system works effectively and fairly.

Ofqual recognises that running exams is a challenging job with responsibilities throughout the academic year. Ofqual is working closely with both The Exams Office and the National Association of Examinations Officers to support new and experienced exams officers throughout the assessment cycle.

Department for Education

The Department for Education

(https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-education) is responsible for curriculum, funding and accountability requirements for schools and colleges. It also sets the subject content for GCSEs

(https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/gcse-subject-content), AS and A levels (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/gce-as-and-a-level-subject-content) and awards T Level certificates

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/introduction-of-t-levels/introduction-of-t-levels) once the whole T Level programme has been completed.

Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education

The Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education works with employers to develop, approve, review and revise apprenticeships and technical qualifications. This includes the subject content of the Technical Qualification within a Levels/t-l

Awarding organisations

In this guide references to awarding organisations mean all organisations that offer qualifications and are regulated by Ofqual.

Some awarding organisations offer VTQs which count towards the Department for Education's performance tables. These qualifications include:

- Applied Generals
- Tech Levels
- Technical Certificates
- Technical Awards
- Technical Qualifications within a T Level

Exam boards

Awarding organisations that also offer GCSEs, AS and A levels are known as exam boards. Exam boards must follow additional rules covering these qualifications.

There are 4 exam boards recognised by Ofqual to award GCSE, AS and A level qualifications in England:

- AQA (https://www.aqa.org.uk/)
- OCR (https://ocr.org.uk/)
- Pearson (https://qualifications.pearson.com/en/home.html)
- WJEC Eduqas (https://www.eduqas.co.uk/)

Exam boards develop and award GCSEs, AS and A levels based on the subject content set out by the Department for Education and following Ofqual's <u>General Conditions of Recognition (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ofqual-handbook)</u>, <u>subject level and qualification level conditions (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/awarding-organisations-understanding-our-regulatory-requirements)</u>.

For some aspects of the qualification system, the exam boards work together to develop common ways of working. For example, they jointly plan the summer exam timetable to minimise clashes. When the exam boards work together in this way, they generally do so through the <u>Joint Council for Qualifications (JCQ)</u> (https://www.jcq.org.uk/), their membership body.

Where we refer to 'exam boards' in this guide, it is because the content or context specifically only relates to GCSE, AS and A levels.

Schools and colleges

Schools and colleges play an integral role in the delivery of examinations and assessment throughout the year. While schools and colleges are customers of awarding organisations, they are a guardian of both the integrity of the system and the validity of qualifications. Your role, in terms of conducting exams and assessments ethically and reporting malpractice, for example, is central to this.

Ofqual works closely with the teaching associations and wider education leaders to understand how our regulations affect teachers, exams officers, students and apprentices.

Private candidates

Some students will not be studying at a school or college and will be private candidates. Private candidates are often home educated or are re-taking a qualification after leaving school or college. They may be studying with a distance learning provider, tutor, parent, or independently. Private candidates need to register at a school, college or other exam centre to sit the assessments required by their qualification.

You may be contacted by students, parents or carers to ask whether your school or college offers entries for private candidates. It is up to an individual school or college to decide whether they accept private candidates. A school or college that accepts private candidates for a qualification must offer to provide all aspects of non-exam assessment for that qualification, if required by the candidate, as well as the exams. You should discuss a private candidate's requirements with them when agreeing to enter them for a qualification.

For GCSE, AS and A level exams, <u>JCQ has a list of schools</u>, <u>colleges and other centres (https://www.jcq.org.uk/private-candidates/)</u> that accept exam entries for private candidates. This list is updated annually at the end of the calendar year, if your school or college accepts private candidates but is not included in the list, please register with JCQ.

Exams and assessment arrangements for the academic year 2023-24

2024 Vocational and Technical Qualification (VTQ) results arrangements

Ofqual has introduced measures to ensure students taking VTQs get their results on time. (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/delivery-of-vtq-results-for-2024-and-beyond) This is part of Ofqual's ongoing commitment to ensuring that students taking VTQs in subjects such as engineering, health & social care and digital media, have parity of treatment with those taking A levels or GCSEs.

The arrangements strengthen and embed processes for schools, colleges and awarding organisations.

- Awarding organisations will work with you to identify which students need a
 result on or before results days in August for progression to further or higher
 education. This term-time checkpoint will be completed before the main exam
 season begins in May.
- The checkpoint and arrangements for issuing results to you apply to Level 3
 (including Technical Qualifications within T Levels), Level 1/2 and Level 2
 VTQs used for progression to higher or further education. This is to ensure
 students taking qualifications alongside GCSEs or A Levels also receive their
 results when they need them. Awarding organisations will provide details of
 which qualifications are included.
- Awarding organisations will release these results to schools and colleges in advance of results days to give sufficient time for exams officers to check and prepare them for final release. Awarding organisations will confirm their own key dates including the delivery of results directly with you this later this term.
- Results for these qualifications will be issued to students on or before A level/Level 3 results day and GCSE/Level 2 results day, as appropriate.
- Ofqual's <u>VTQ Information Hub (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/key-dates-for-vocational-and-technical-qualifications-in-2023)</u> will bring together key dates and deadlines from awarding organisations, to support school and college staff working in the administration or delivery of these qualifications. This will be updated in the new year.
- Ofqual will continue to work with awarding organisations to encourage clear, timely, precise and consistent communications.
- A VTQ Results Group, convened by Ofqual, will help to oversee this work, building on the successful work of the Taskforce established in 2023. This group will bring together key sector representatives, such as teaching associations, and awarding organisations to ensure timely results for students.

Ofqual recognises that individual students' plans can change. The checkpoint process is designed to ensure that students who need a result on results days get one. This process should not curtail the flexibility that is a valued feature of many VTQs. Students who are not dependent on a result in August to progress will continue to be able to complete their qualification as they are ready, and to the timescales that work for them and their school or college. If an individual student no longer expects a result once the checkpoint process is complete, you should notify the relevant awarding organisation to ensure the student's progress is captured and, if appropriate, their result is deferred.

Details of the measures are confirmed in <u>a letter to schools and colleges</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/delivery-of-vtq-results-for-2024-and-beyond) and further information can also be found in the section on results days below. Please work with awarding organisations to understand their key deadlines and your contribution to the successful delivery of results.

How GCSEs, AS and A levels will be assessed in 2024

Support material

In recognition of the disruption the 2024 cohort of students received to their secondary education the Department for Education has confirmed
Department/news/additional-support-materials-for-gcse-exams-in-2024) that, for exams in 2024, it is not necessary for students to memorise formulae for GCSE mathematics and equations for GCSE physics and combined science. Ofqual is consulting (https://ofqual.citizenspace.com/public/gcse-maths-physics-and-combined-science-in-2024/">Department/news/additional-support-materials-for-gcse-exams-in-2024) on the provision of support materials, in the form of formulae and revised equation sheets, and will confirm the support in place once this consultation has concluded.

Students entering GCSEs, AS or A levels in 2024 will take exams in the summer and complete any non-exam assessments following the standard arrangements as set out in exam boards specifications and other key documents throughout the year.

Grading

Grading for GCSEs, AS or A levels in 2024

The 2-year transition to pre-pandemic grading (https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/ofquals-approach-to-grading-exams-and-assessments-in-summer-2022-and-autumn-2021) is now complete. Normal grading arrangements will continue for GCSEs, AS and A levels in 2024.

Ofqual expects national results in 2024 to be broadly similar to those seen in 2023. Overall outcomes may vary a little if, for example, the cohort of students taking a qualification is stronger or weaker than in previous years. As such, overall national results may change slightly year on year, just as they did before the pandemic.

It is also important to remember that the grade boundaries for a qualification vary from year to year. It is important that they do so in order that they reflect the level of challenge of the papers taken that year. Although senior examiners aim to produce papers of comparable challenge, in practice this is very difficult to do. We know that some variations in the level of demand of an assessment, and any changes to grade boundaries as a result, are inevitable to ensure that fair and appropriate grading standards are set. As in any year, senior examiners will recommend. This ensures that it is not easier or harder to get a grade between one year and the next.

When completing formative assessments, or producing indicative grades for students, we advise focussing on the underlying content, knowledge and skills required for each qualification, rather than only the grade boundaries set for papers from previous years.

As in any year there is <u>no pre-determined 'quota' of grades</u> (https://ofqual.blog.gov.uk/2017/03/17/mythbusting-3-common-misconceptions/).

Grading arrangements for VTQs and Technical Qualifications within T Levels in the academic year 2023 to 2024

Grading arrangements for VTQs such as in health and social care, engineering or sport studies, will continue as normal.

Awarding organisations will use suitable grading approaches for the VTQs they offer.

Technical Awards, which are taken alongside GCSEs and include subjects such as Pearson's BTEC Level 1/2 Technical Award in performing arts or OCR's Level 1/2 Cambridge National in health and social care, have been reformed and the first students to complete these new qualifications will do so in 2024. We have asked awarding organisations to take into account the fact that

teachers and students may be less familiar with new assessments when setting grade boundaries for new Technical Awards, as has happened with other new qualifications previously.

Similarly, as in 2023, awarding organisations will be generous when awarding the Technical Qualifications within T Levels in the first years of awards. Again, this is to reflect that these are new qualifications that students and teachers are less familiar with, so awarding organisations will take this into account when setting grade boundaries in the first years of awards.

Resilience arrangements

The government does not expect there to be a situation where exams do not go ahead again, but it is sensible to have contingency plans in place, even for extremely unlikely scenarios.

Ofqual has issued guidance on collecting evidence of student performance to ensure resilience in the qualifications system

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-collecting-evidence-of-student-performance-to-ensure-resilience-in-the-qualifications-system/guidance-on-collecting-evidence-of-student-performance-to-ensure-resilience-in-the-qualifications-system) for GCSE, AS and A levels, Project Qualifications and Advanced Extension Awards that schools and colleges are expected to follow. This sets out how to gather evidence of student performance that would be used to determine grades in the unlikely event that exams and assessments could not go ahead as planned. Schools and colleges are encouraged to gather evidence in line with existing assessment arrangements. Schools and colleges should avoid over-assessment, with one set of mocks likely to be sufficient for evidence purposes.

VTQs are generally modular and have a high proportion of internal assessment so it is more likely that there would already be assessment evidence available which could be used to determine grades. However, there are some qualifications are that are used alongside or instead of GCSEs, AS and A levels for progression to further or higher study, where there may not be any or sufficient evidence available. In these cases, awarding organisations will consider whether it is appropriate for a centre to gather evidence of student performance to support resilience for a qualification and if it does, provide guidance to the centre. This guidance may be based on the guidance for GCSEs, AS and A levels, Project Qualifications and Advanced Extension Awards. If you are unsure whether these arrangements apply to a qualification you offer, you should contact the relevant awarding organisations.

These arrangements are now in place on a long-term basis. It is important to make sure that appropriate evidence is available so that qualifications could be

awarded even in the most unlikely of circumstances.

Before exams and assessments

Contingency arrangements

Ofqual has worked with CCEA and Qualifications Wales to produce the joint exam system contingency plan (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/examsystem-contingency-plan-england-wales-and-northern-ireland/what-schools-and-colleges-should-do-if-exams-or-other-assessments-are-seriously-disrupted) setting out what schools and colleges should do if exams or other assessments are seriously disrupted and includes guidance on developing contingency plans. Examples of disruption could include severe weather, widespread illness, travel disruption, cyber-attacks or system failures. Schools and colleges should follow this guidance, and in particular make sure you are aware of your responsibilities in relation to developing contingency plans or any actions needed should you experience disruption.

Access arrangements, reasonable adjustments and special consideration

Access arrangements is an umbrella term often used by awarding organisations and schools and colleges to cover both reasonable adjustments, for students with disabilities, and some forms of special consideration (arrangements for students suffering illness, injury or disruption at the time of the assessment).

Reasonable adjustments

Reasonable adjustments, often called access arrangements, are changes made to exams or assessments, or to the way they are conducted where a disabled person would be at a substantial disadvantage in undertaking an assessment. They are needed because some disabilities can make it harder for students to show what they know, understand, and can do in an assessment than it would have been had the student not been disabled. The exam or assessment must still test the same knowledge, skills and understanding for that qualification.

If possible, schools and colleges should apply for any reasonable adjustments needed well in advance of the planned assessment date. This will make sure that there is plenty of time to plan and implement any adjustments before the assessment. Awarding organisations will be able to provide you with information about when to apply for adjustments for the qualifications they make available.

If you become aware that a student's need has changed or they need a reasonable adjustment that has not been applied for, you should contact your awarding organisation as soon as possible. You should do this even if any deadline set by your awarding organisation has passed.

What awarding organisations must do

The Equality Act 2010 requires awarding organisations to make reasonable adjustments to exams and assessments for disabled students. Ofqual requires awarding organisations to publish their arrangements for making reasonable adjustments, including how a student qualifies for a reasonable adjustment and what reasonable adjustments might be made.

Ofqual has the power under the Equality Act (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/96) to specify adjustments which an awarding organisation should not make in relation to particular qualifications. This is set out in Ofqual's section 96 specifications (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/specifications-in-relation-to-the-reasonable-adjustment-of-general-qualifications).

What 'disabled' or 'disability' means

The Equality Act 2010 defines disability as: "a physical or mental impairment ... [that] has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on [their] ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities."

A short-term illness or temporary injury is not normally considered a disability; a student who is temporarily ill or injured is not normally entitled to reasonable adjustments. Students suffering from short term injuries or illness, at the time of their exam or assessment, may be entitled to special consideration. Information relating to special consideration can be found later in this guide.

What reasonable adjustments are available

Awarding organisations can make a wide range of adjustments to their exams or assessments. Some of the most common adjustments are:

- modified papers (for example, large print or braille exam papers)
- access to assistive software (for example, voice recognition systems or computer readers)
- access to a scribe or reader

- changes to how the assessment is done (for example, word-processing rather than hand-writing answers)
- extra time to complete assessments

This is not an exhaustive list – other adjustments may be available, depending on the student's needs and not all of these adjustments will be reasonable in all cases.

Where you think a student needs a different adjustment, you should contact the awarding organisation for advice about the different adjustments that are available and to discuss the student's needs. Should a student's needs change, meaning agreed adjustments may no longer be appropriate, you should contact the awarding organisation as soon as possible.

Each awarding organisation will have its own reasonable adjustments policy and practices and these will be on its website. For GCSEs, AS, A levels and some VTQs, JCQ sets out guidance on <u>access arrangements and reasonable adjustments (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/access-arrangements-and-special-consideration/regulations-and-guidance/).</u>

Schools and colleges need to apply to JCQ for some types of arrangement, for example, extra time or braille papers, while others, such as supervised rest breaks or non-electronic ear defenders, do not need an application. The JCQ guidance explains what you need to do for the different types of arrangements and the evidence requirements.

Schools and colleges will need to contact individual awarding organisations for advice on adjustments for VTQs including Technical Qualifications in T Levels.

What adjustments a student may get

It is important to understand that the adjustments for an individual student will depend on how – and by how much – their disability affects them when taking a particular assessment. By their nature reasonable adjustments are specific to an individual student and decisions relating to them are made on a case-by-case basis.

That means:

- different students with the same disability will not always get the same adjustments
- the same student might get different adjustments for different assessments
- if a student's disability doesn't affect their ability to demonstrate what they know, understand and can do in an assessment, then they will not get any adjustments

An awarding organisation must decide, based on each student's circumstances, which (if any) adjustments are reasonable. Factors they should consider when

making that decision include:

- whether <u>Ofqual's section 96 specifications</u>
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/specifications-in-relation-to-the-reasonable-adjustment-of-general-qualifications) about reasonable adjustments in assessments mean they cannot offer a particular adjustment
- how (and by how much) a student's disability affects their ability to demonstrate their knowledge, skills and understanding in the assessment
- how well an adjustment helps a student deal with the difficulties their disability causes when taking their assessment – an adjustment that works well is more likely to be reasonable than one that doesn't really help
- how much the adjustment would cost a more expensive adjustment may be less likely to be reasonable than a cheaper one
- how difficult it is to make the adjustment a complicated adjustment may be less likely to be reasonable than a straightforward one
- whether (and by how much) the adjustment could compromise the validity of the assessment, such as changing what is being assessed. An adjustment that gives a disabled person an unfair advantage or disadvantages other students would probably not be reasonable

The role of a school or college in relation to reasonable adjustments

Schools and colleges apply for reasonable adjustments on behalf of their students. To evidence that a student is eligible for a reasonable adjustment, you will need to demonstrate that:

- the student is disabled
- their disability would significantly disadvantage them in the assessment

You must also set out the adjustments you believe the student needs.

If you are unsure what adjustments might be appropriate for a particular disabled student, you should discuss their needs with the student and the awarding organisation as early as possible. The awarding organisation will be able to provide advice about the different adjustments that are available, and the evidence that will be needed to support the application. Some adjustments take time to arrange, and early notice helps awarding organisations provide the adjustment in time.

Schools and colleges are responsible for making sure that any adjustments agreed with the awarding organisation are put in place and are used properly when students take their assessments. Schools and colleges have a duty to make reasonable adjustments for disabled students under the Equality Act. For more information, please see Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC), Technical guidance for schools in England (https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/equality/equality-act-2010/technical-guidance-schools-england).

How to apply

For GCSE, AS, A levels and some VTQs, JCQ provides <u>information on applying</u> <u>for reasonable adjustments (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/access-arrangements-and-special-consideration/).</u>

For other VTQs, contact your awarding organisation for details of how to apply for reasonable adjustments.

Appealing against an awarding organisation's decision

Ofqual's rules mean awarding organisations must have a process in place for schools and colleges to appeal against an awarding organisation's decision on the adjustment to provide a student. An awarding organisation should explain why it has decided not to give a student an adjustment or to give them a different adjustment from that requested. If a school or college does not agree with the awarding organisation's decision, it should follow the awarding organisation's appeal process. Ofqual will usually only consider complaints about an awarding organisation once the appeal has been concluded.

Ofqual does not have powers to investigate complaints or disputes about whether awarding organisations have breached equality law. Ofqual cannot, for example, determine whether or not an awarding organisation has discriminated against a disabled student. However, an awarding organisation that was found to have breached equality law may also have breached Ofqual's conditions of recognition, enabling us to take regulatory action.

If you believe a student has been discriminated against by an awarding organisation, the student or their parent can contact the Equality Advisory and Support Service (https://www.equalityadvisoryservice.com/) for advice on their rights within the Equality Act.

Senior designated contacts in schools and colleges

Awarding organisations need to be able to contact schools and colleges if there are issues that might affect the awarding of a student's qualification. Most of these issues are addressed during term time using regular contacts, however, some of these issues may occur outside term time.

You will need to identify one or two senior contacts within your school or college who are responsible for exam and assessment delivery. These designated contacts will be those who you can escalate qualification-related issues to for resolution, can be contacted out of hours by awarding organisations and have the authority to access information as required. This person doesn't necessarily need to be the principal or head teacher and could be the same person or people for all awarding organisations. Awarding organisations will contact you with their exact requirements and maintain a record of these designated contacts.

These contacts would only be used in the small number of cases where information is needed to award a qualification and the normal, established contact arrangements with exams officers for example, are unavailable. These contacts must be available throughout the assessment series, before, during and after results are issued.

Entries and tiering

Ofqual does not set rules on how awarding organisations handle entries from schools or colleges. Awarding organisations have their own arrangements and exam boards set <u>common deadlines through JCQ (https://www.jcq.org.uk/examsoffice/key-dates-and-timetables/)</u>.

Awarding organisations may ask schools and colleges for early indications of their expected entries or registrations. Awarding organisations will work with you to identify which students studying a VTQ at Level 3, 2 or 1/2 taken alongside A levels or GCSEs, will need a result on or before results days in August for progression to higher or further education. This term-time checkpoint will be completed before the main exam season begins in May.

We encourage schools and colleges to give awarding organisations this information as soon as possible to help the system run efficiently and effectively.

Key dates for VTQs will be available on the updated VTQ Information Hub in the new year.

Some GCSE subjects have different tiers of entry (foundation or higher). The subjects with tiers of entry are:

- maths
- · combined science
- physics
- chemistry
- biology
- statistics
- modern foreign languages

Where GCSEs are tiered, it is important that students are entered appropriately. Available grades are:

- Foundation tier: 5 to 1 (5–5 to 1–1 in combined science)
- Higher tier: 9 to 4 (9–9 to 4–4 on combined science) with a narrow 'safety net' grade 3 (4–3 in combined science) for those students who just miss grade 4 (or 4–4); higher tier students who do not achieve enough marks for that safety net grade will receive an unclassified result (U)

A student who is expected to achieve a grade 4 or grade 5 should be entered for foundation tier. A grade 4 or 5 achieved at foundation tier are the same as a grade 4 or 5 achieved at higher tier. Exam boards are required to make sure that it is no easier or more difficult to achieve a grade 4 or 5 on higher or foundation tier. There is nothing on certificates showing the tier of entry.

You need to make sure that all students are entered for the correct exams and, if the exam is tiered, at the correct tier. If you have any concerns or corrections contact the exam board as soon as possible.

During exams and assessments

Exam timetable

GCSE, AS and A level exams will be held between **9 May and 25 June 2024**. Exam board timetables for the 2024 summer exam series of GCSEs, AS and A levels are available on the JCQ website. (June2024_FINAL.pdf) Details of the timetables for internal and external assessments for VTQs can be found on the relevant awarding organisation's website. Examinations and assessments take place throughout the academic year.

Reporting an error in an exam paper or assessment

Errors in exam papers and assessments are rare, but they can occasionally happen. You should encourage your students to let you know immediately if they believe there may have been an error in their paper. If you believe there is an error in an exam paper or assessment, including in any modified papers, you should contact the relevant awarding organisation immediately. Awarding organisations will determine whether an error has been made and, if it has, the potential impact of the error on students.

Awarding organisations consider, for example, whether the error will have stopped students being able to answer the question or complete the task, or whether students' performance in other questions might have been affected by the error. They then decide the fairest way to proceed. This might include analysing how students answered the question or awarding all students full marks for the question.

Ofqual takes question paper errors seriously. We consider whether an awarding organisation's planned action is appropriate and fair, we may require it to take action to address the impact of the error on students and we consider regulatory action (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taking-regulatory-action) where appropriate.

Malpractice and maladministration

Malpractice affects qualification standards and confidence in qualifications. It undermines the hard work of students, teachers, and schools and colleges. Ofqual takes malpractice very seriously.

Even if there is no deliberate wrongdoing, poor practice or maladministration (for example, giving students the wrong exam papers) can result in students being seriously disadvantaged.

Ofqual's rules for awarding organisations reflect how serious malpractice and maladministration can be. We require awarding organisations to do all they can to prevent malpractice and maladministration when developing, delivering, and awarding regulated qualifications. However, it can happen and, where there are plausible allegations, awarding organisations must find out whether malpractice or maladministration has happened.

When awarding organisations become aware of possible malpractice or maladministration, they should do all they can to prevent (or where that is not possible minimise):

- any unfair impact on students
- any adverse impact on:
 - their ability to develop, deliver and award the qualification
 - the standard of the qualification
 - public confidence in qualifications

Ofqual also requires awarding organisations to:

- have (and comply with) written procedures for investigating malpractice and maladministration
- make sure investigators have no personal interest in the outcome of their investigations
- do all they can to keep school or college arrangements for preventing and investigating malpractice and maladministration under review
- provide (on request) guidance to schools and colleges about how best to prevent, investigate and deal with malpractice and maladministration

- if malpractice or maladministration is found, do all they can to stop it happening again, and take proportionate action against those responsible
- inform schools, colleges and other awarding organisations that may be affected by any malpractice or maladministration they have found.

For further information on malpractice and maladministration including what might constitute such, relating to GCSEs, AS and A levels, please refer to JCQ's Suspected Malpractice Policies and Procedures (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/malpractice/).

Awarding organisations offering VTQs will have their own malpractice and maladministration policysetting out clearly their expectations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delivery-of-vtq-results-for-2024-and-beyond) of schools and colleges, including what data they will be collecting, when and why, and any consequences for failing to meet their deadlines.

If you have concerns about exam and assessment activities in your school or college, or an awarding organisation, you can raise those concerns with Ofqual. Further information can be found below in the Whistleblowing section of this guide.

Artificial intelligence

It is important that schools and colleges are aware of the risks posed by the use of artificial intelligence (AI) relating to non-exam assessments. The JCQ guidance on AI use in assessments: protecting the integrity of qualifications (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/malpractice/artificial-intelligence/) provides details about the responsibilities of schools and colleges. This includes ensuring the authenticity of student work, that students must not misuse AI tools and that they must acknowledge any use of such tools to avoid committing malpractice.

Awarding organisation inspections

Awarding organisations check that schools and colleges are following their instructions, including through targeted visits. In some cases, these are carried out by JCQ's Centre Inspection Service (CIS). Ofqual requires awarding organisations to have a sanctions policy for when a school or college has breached its requirements. Sanctions include extra monitoring visits, use of awarding organisation invigilators or preventing a school or college from offering some or all of their qualifications.

JCQ publishes <u>guidance setting out how exam boards investigate potential</u> <u>malpractice (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/malpractice/)</u> and the sanctions they may impose when malpractice is confirmed. Awarding organisations offering VTQs will have their own policies that cover inspection, investigation, and sanctions.

Ofqual will not normally be involved with the investigation. Where you think an awarding organisation has not followed published procedures, you can appeal against the finding. If you are dissatisfied with the awarding organisation's response, you can complain to Ofqual. Ofqual will usually only consider a complaint once the awarding organisation's own complaints and appeals procedures have been exhausted.

Your role

You have an important role to play in preventing, identifying and tackling malpractice.

Awarding organisations rightly expect you to take malpractice, and the risk of malpractice, seriously. They expect schools and colleges to have proper processes for investigating and dealing with allegations of malpractice. Awarding organisations have their own rules for when and how exams and other assessments are conducted, which you must follow. Any breach of these rules can undermine the fair conduct of assessments and the fair award of qualifications. This can result in the assessed work being rejected, the school or college being sanctioned by the awarding organisation, or both.

You must comply with awarding organisations' instructions to reduce the risk of errors and maladministration occurring, such as having 2 people present when opening exam papers.

You should also comply with any instructions about issuing results. For example, you should not give results to students before any embargo is lifted.

Reporting malpractice or maladministration

Schools and colleges should report any evidence or suspicions of malpractice to the relevant awarding organisation. You should report any errors or incidents of maladministration as soon as they are discovered.

Individuals can also report concerns to Ofqual under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998. This is often known as whistleblowing. In certain

circumstances, this can provide protection when a person discloses concerns about practice where they work.

<u>Use this form to report malpractice or wrongdoing to Ofqual</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofqual/about/complaints-procedure).

Special consideration

Special consideration is any adjustment given to a student who has temporarily experienced an illness, injury, or other event outside of their control at the time of the assessment which significantly affects their ability to:

- · take an assessment
- demonstrate what they can do in an assessment

Special consideration is only for things that happen immediately before or during an exam or assessment that have a material effect on a student's ability to take that exam or assessment, or on how they performed. To be eligible for special consideration, students must have been fully prepared for the assessment and have covered the whole course.

Students are not eligible for special consideration because, for example, they did not cover the course due to joining the class part way through or their education was disrupted due to issues such as staff shortages, building work or lack of facilities. Assessments are designed to show what a student knows, understands, and can do, not what they could know, understand and could do if circumstances had been different.

What awarding organisations must do

Ofqual requires awarding organisations to:

- have clear arrangements for giving special consideration
- publish details of those arrangements, including what special consideration is available, and how students qualify for it

Ofqual does not specify what special consideration awarding organisations should give, or how they should determine eligibility for it.

For GCSEs, AS and A levels, all the exam boards offer 3 different types of support for students who are affected by circumstances outside their control, all of which are types of special consideration:

- 1. changes to the way assessments are taken for students with temporary injuries or illnesses (sometimes referred to as 'access arrangements')
- 2. a small number of extra marks for students whose exam performance is affected by temporary illness, injury, indisposition, or an unforeseen incident
- 3. awarding the qualification even though the student was absent from an exam or formal assessment (a student must have completed at least one component to be eligible for this type of special consideration)

JCQ provides more information about these different types of support (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/access-arrangements-and-special-consideration/regulations-and-guidance/).

For VTQs, awarding organisations may consider the same 3 types of support for students as set out above for GCSEs, AS and A levels. Other types of support may be available depending on the student's circumstances as this may depend on the individual qualification and assessment missed. For example, in some cases, due to the flexibility of the assessment timings or the nature of the situation, it might be possible for the student to take their VTQ assessment at a later date.

It might not be possible to apply special consideration for VTQs where an assessment requires the demonstration of practical competence, where the assessment criteria must be met in full or where the qualification confers a licence to practise. Your awarding organisation can explain what support they can offer and how to apply.

Your role

It is your responsibility to work with awarding organisations to make sure that students are provided with the relevant special consideration as required.

For all qualifications, if a student is unable to take one or more of their assessments, or to show what they know, understand, or can do in their assessments, due to temporary illness, injury or some other event outside their control, you should notify the awarding organisation as soon as possible. Your awarding organisation can explain what support they can offer, and how to apply.

If a student feels unwell on the day of their exam or assessment, you should have your own procedures in place to follow and must notify the awarding organisation as soon as possible. You should not wait until the student has completed the assessments, or until after results are issued, before contacting the awarding organisation as this may mean the student misses out on any special consideration.

For GCSEs, AS and A levels in summer 2024, you should submit special consideration requests to your awarding organisation by 3 July. You can check key dates in the examination cycle on JCQ's website (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/key-dates-and-timetables/), you may wish to read their guidance on special consideration. (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/access-arrangements-and-special-consideration/regulations-and-guidance/)

If you believe a student studying VTQs or Technical Qualifications within T Levels is eligible for special consideration, you should follow the awarding organisation's process and any deadlines that are specified on their websites. For VTQs offered through JCQ exam boards, the JCQ guidance on special consideration (JCQ guidance on special-consideration/regulations-and-guidance/) is applicable.

If a school or college does not agree with an awarding organisation's decision

Awarding organisations should explain why they have decided to grant a different special consideration to the one requested, or taken a decision not to provide a special consideration.

Our rules mean awarding organisations must have a process for appealing that decision and you should follow that process if you disagree with their decision. Ofqual will usually only consider complaints about an awarding organisation once the appeal has been concluded.

Administering exams

Awarding organisations must make sure schools and colleges have the information they need to hand out the right papers on the right day and under the right conditions. Schools and colleges must take particular care to store any exam and assessment materials securely to protect the confidentiality of the exams.

Ofqual requires awarding organisations to have written and enforceable agreements with schools and colleges that deliver any part of their qualifications, including administering exams and other assessments. The agreements must include that the school or college:

- assists the awarding organisation when it undertakes monitoring
- has a workforce that can deliver the qualification as the awarding organisation requires

· operates a complaints procedure for students

For GCSEs, AS and A levels, JCQ has produced <u>instructions for conducting examinations (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/ice---instructions-for-conducting-examinations/)</u>. It covers the range of requirements the exam boards place on schools and colleges, including:

- · how exam papers must be stored
- checks which must be performed when the papers are delivered
- checking of equipment prior to assessments taking place
- who should be present to supervise opening of papers
- starting times for exams
- supervision of candidates who take exams earlier or later than timetabled
- using calculators
- using other resources, such as dictionaries
- · conditions, equipment, and seating arrangements in the exam room
- invigilation arrangements
- what must be done at the start of the examination, including identifying candidates
- · starting the exam
- how to supervise during the exam
- what to do when a candidate is late
- · completing an attendance register
- · what do to in the event of emergencies
- · ending the exam and packing away
- · sending the scripts back to the exam board

Exams officers and invigilators play an essential role in the smooth running of the exam system. You should ensure that contingency arrangements are in place should exams officers or invigilators be unable to attend on the day on an exam.

The Exams Office, in partnership with the National Association of Examinations Officers, has also produced the Invigilator Recruitment and Vacancy map (Invigilator-recruitment-map/) to support schools and colleges in recruiting invigilators.

Non-exam assessment in GCSEs, AS or A levels

Some knowledge, skills and understanding is assessed through non-exam assessments.

Exam boards provide their own instructions on how the non-exam assessments must be undertaken. Where a GCSE, AS or A level includes non-exam assessment, such as a dance or music performance, teachers should support their students to complete that assessment in line with the expectations set by exam boards. JCQ has also published detailed guidance about how the exam boards operate their non-exam assessments (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/non-examination-assessments/) in GCSEs, AS and A levels, and what is expected of you.

The non-exam assessment will be marked and, where needed, moderated and combined with students' exam marks to determine their grades.

Exam boards check whether their rules are properly followed. They have different ways of doing so, including through general school or college (known as centre) inspection visits, subject-targeted visits, and statistical monitoring (which enables them to identify marks for non-exam assessments that appear out of line with students' performance in their exams for that subject).

Non-exam and practical assessment in VTQs

Awarding organisations provide their own instructions on how non-exam and practical assessments for VTQs must be undertaken, marked and moderated, as well as the timescales for issuing marks to the awarding organisation.

Awarding organisations check whether assessments are properly undertaken (through external quality assurance) and, where the assessments are marked by schools or colleges, whether the awarding organisation's marking guidance is adhered to (for example, through statistical monitoring). The latter enables them to identify marks for non-exam or practical assessments that appear out of line with students' performance in their exams or other assessments for that subject.

After exams or assessments

Who marks students' work?

All exams are marked by markers who are recruited and paid by the awarding organisations. Ofqual requires awarding organisations to make sure all assessors, including any teachers who are marking their own students' non-

exam assessments, understand how they must mark, and that marking is done accurately and to a consistent standard.

Non-exam assessment can be marked in different ways, for example, by teachers in the student's school or college or by visiting examiners. In some cases, it is sent to the awarding organisation for marking.

Where teachers mark their own students' work (an 'internally marked' assessment), schools and colleges are required to standardise marking between teachers within their school or college. Awarding organisations then check that marking – sometimes known as moderation. This is so they can make sure marking has been undertaken accurately and consistently across all schools and colleges.

You should follow the <u>JCQ instructions for non-examination assessments</u> (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/non-examination-assessments/) for GCSEs, AS and A levels, or instructions set by your awarding organisation when conducting and marking non-exam assessments.

Student requests for a review of teacher-marked nonexam assessment

Schools and colleges are required to have specific arrangements in place for students to make a complaint (for VTQs) or request reviews of the marking of internal assessments (for Technical Qualifications within a T Level). Awarding organisations will have an appeals policy setting out the process to follow.

JCQ has published information about the <u>processes schools and colleges need</u> to <u>put in place (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/non-examination-assessments/)</u> in order to comply with this requirement. For other qualifications, schools and colleges should speak to the relevant awarding organisation for confirmation of their specific details.

How awarding organisations make sure marking is accurate

Awarding organisations meet Ofqual's rules – including making sure marking is as accurate as possible – in different ways. Their approach can depend on whether scripts are marked on paper or electronically (on-screen), as well as whether they are marked by question or as a whole paper. Awarding organisation approaches include using 'seed items' or requiring markers to submit samples of their marking to a more senior marker for checking.

If you would like more information on how a particular awarding organisation quality assures its marking, you should look on their website for information or contact them directly.

'Seed' items

Where on-screen marking is used, after the exam has taken place and before the marking starts, senior examiners review student responses and select a number of 'seed' items. They then agree a mark – the mark that the response will get and that they all agree is the most appropriate – for each of these seed items and agree a marking tolerance. If a marker awards a mark for a seed item which is outside the agreed tolerance, they can be stopped from marking (either until they have completed further training, or permanently). The marking they have already completed might also be re-marked or adjusted.

Requiring markers to submit samples of their marking to a more senior marker for checking

If a marker is not marking to the required standard, they can be stopped from marking – either until they have completed further training, or permanently. The marking they have already completed might be remarked or adjusted.

Moderation and verification

For some qualifications teachers mark non-exam assessments. When they do this, awarding organisations must check the teachers' marking to make sure that it is accurate and consistent. This is normally done, at least initially, by taking a sample of the marking of each school or college to see if their marking is in line with national standards. For GCSE, AS and A levels this process is known as moderation, for other qualifications it might be known as a check or standards verification.

To make this possible, schools and colleges provide a sample of their students' work. The sample is set by the awarding organisations to include a sufficient number and range of student work (given different marks) to allow them to make a secure judgement about the standard of the school or college's marking.

The sample is scrutinised by the awarding organisation. The awarding organisation reviews the marking of the work to check that the mark scheme has been applied accurately (to the correct standard) and consistently.

If the awarding organisation agrees with the marks, then the school or college's marks remain, and they are used to calculate the final qualification grades for the school or college's students.

Awarding organisations recognise that there may be some small legitimate differences in judgement between the school or college marker and the awarding organisation about the exact mark they judge a piece of work should receive. Reflecting this, awarding organisations normally choose to put in place a small 'tolerance'. If an awarding organisation finds the difference between marks awarded by the school or college and those of the awarding organisation to be greater than the tolerance, they will judge the marking to be inaccurate.

If the awarding organisation finds that the marking is inaccurate and/or inconsistent (for example, some marks are accurate and others are not), or they cannot make a judgement about this from the sample they have reviewed, the awarding organisation must act to address this. To do this, a number of things might happen.

The awarding organisation may look at a wider sample of work from that school or college to allow them to come to a judgement.

If the awarding organisation identifies that the marking is inaccurate but that it is consistent – for example, if the marks are consistently too low or too high – the awarding organisation will adjust the original marking to make sure students receive an accurate mark. Such an adjustment is applied to the work of all the students in the school or college, not just those in the sample. The awarding organisation will have looked at a sufficiently wide sample of work to establish a consistent level of marking within the school or college.

If the awarding organisation finds that the marking is inconsistent, so that it is impossible to adjust the marks in a way that ensures students receive accurate marks, the awarding organisation will either:

- request and then re-mark all the work from the school or college
- ask the school or college to mark it again and then look again at the new marks given through the checking process

The awarding organisation will also prepare a report for the school or college, which gives feedback on their marking. This report should allow the school or college to understand the reasons for any changes to their marking, made following moderation. In particular, this could help the school or college and/or identify any areas for improvement. Should it be necessary, it will also help them decide whether to seek a review of any adjustment to the marks made after the checks are complete.

Receiving results data

Schools and colleges receive GCSE, AS and A level results a day in advance of the relevant results day, in the method agreed with the exam board. This early view of results is to allow schools and colleges to prepare results for student collection and must remain strictly confidential until release on results day. Awarding organisations may consider a breach of their embargo to be maladministration or malpractice.

Please ensure in advance of results day you have confirmed your school or college contact details with your awarding organisations.

Awarding organisations will release results data for Level 3, Level 2 and Level 1/2 VTQs to schools and colleges in advance of results days to give sufficient time for exams officers to check and prepare the results for final release. For Level 3, in most cases we expect this will mean results will be with you by the Monday of results week.

Some awarding organisations (such as AQA and WJEC) process and issue their VTQ results in a similar way to their GCSEs, AS and A levels and they will continue to issue results to schools and colleges the day before results day. This is in line with their release of GCSE, AS and A level results and the same is also likely to apply for other Level 2 results.

The ability of staff to review results and, if necessary, engage with awarding organisations prior to results days proved a critical aspect of the success of the summer of 2023, though we recognise it is a demanding time for schools and colleges. If your school or college handles high volumes of results, consider which staff will need to be available to process these results, identify any issues and liaise with the relevant awarding organisation.

Some awarding organisations opt to issue results to schools and colleges under embargo. Where this occurs you must follow the instructions provided by the awarding organisation or JCQ including who in your school or college, is or is not allowed to view the results early.

Many schools and colleges opt to release VTQ results to students on the same day as A level results, so there is an equal celebration for all students.

Ofqual's VTQ Information Hub will be updated in the new year, with key dates from the awarding organisations, including when results will be available in schools and colleges.

Results days for students

The date assessment results are released depends on the qualification in question, the way it has been assessed, and the awarding organisation.

Results for AS, A levels and T Levels taken in summer 2024 will be released to students on **Thursday 15 August 2024**.

Level 3 VTQs, used for progression to higher education, will be released to students on or before **Thursday 15 August 2024**.

Results for GCSEs taken in summer 2024 will be released to students on **Thursday 22 August 2024**.

Level 2 and Level 1/2 VTQs results used for progression to further education will be released to students on or before **Thursday 22 August 2024**.

Some VTQs are taken on demand or results issued on a rolling basis. Results for these qualifications will be available at different times throughout the year. You can find the date you will receive your students' qualification results on the relevant awarding organisation website and on the VTQ Information Hub (in the new year).

Results for GCSEs taken in November 2024 will be released to students in **January 2025**.

Reviews and appeals for GCSEs, AS A levels and Technical Qualifications within T Levels

If you think there has been an error in the marking, or that an awarding organisation hasn't followed their processes properly there are processes you can follow to have these decisions reviewed. These processes are collectively known as "post-result services".

This section sets out the process that awarding organisations have in place to comply with our conditions. For awarding organisation-specific dates and processes please refer to the awarding organisation's own website.

Awarding organisations may offer similar arrangements for VTQ performance table qualifications such as Technical Awards. Schools and colleges should contact their awarding organisation directly to understand their specific reviews and appeals arrangements.

Stages of the reviews and appeals process

The reviews and appeals system for GCSEs, AS and A levels, and Technical Qualifications within T Levels has a number of stages, illustrated in the diagram

and explained in the text below. Ofqual's rules set out in detail the way awarding organisations must carry out each of these stages.

Stages of the reviews and appeals system for GCSEs, AS, A levels and Technical Qualifications within T Levels

Results issued	Results issued
Review request	Review of marking or moderation requested if school/college thinks an error has been made Review of marking/moderation conducted and any errors corrected
Appeals Part 1	Appeals can be made on the grounds of a marking/ moderation error that remains after review, or on the grounds of procedural error, for GCSEs, AS, A levels and Project qualifications Appeal considered by an exam board officer
Appeals Part 2	An appeal hearing can be requested if the school/college is not satisfied with the outcome Appeal considered by panel Key
Exam Procedures Review Service (EPRS)	Ofqual's EPRS can be asked to undertake a final review if school/college is not satisfied with the outcome Decides whether a case has been made and considers if something has gone wrong Schools and colleges Exam boards Ofqual

- 1. Results are issued by the awarding organisations.
- 2. A review of marking or moderation can be requested by the school or college if it thinks an error has been made. The awarding organisation will then review the marking or moderation and correct any errors.
- 3. The school or college can make an appeal on the grounds of a marking or moderation error that remains after the review, or on the grounds of a procedural error. The appeal is then initially considered by an officer at the awarding organisation.
- 4. An appeal hearing can be requested by the school or college if it is not satisfied with the outcome. The appeal will be considered by a panel at the awarding organisation. This is the final decision and it must involve someone independent to the awarding organisation.
- 5. If the school or college is still not satisfied after the final appeal outcome, it can apply to Ofqual's Exam Procedures Review Service (EPRS) for a final review. Ofqual will consider whether something might have gone wrong.

You may wish to refer to the <u>JCQ information and guidance</u> (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/post-results-services) on the timing and processes of post result services.

Schools and colleges are also required to have specific arrangements in place for students to request reviews of the marking for GCSE, AS, A level and Technical Qualifications within a T Level, non-exam assessments prior to the submission of marks to an awarding organisation.

JCQ has published information about the <u>processes schools and colleges need to put in place (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/non-examination-assessments/)</u> in order to comply with this requirement. You should check the awarding organisation's website for their own specific requirements.

You should speak to the relevant awarding organisation for information on their appeals process for VTQs such as Technical Awards.

Reviews of marking and moderation

For GCSE, AS, A level and Technical Qualifications within a T Level, schools and colleges can ask awarding organisations to review whether there were any errors in the awarding organisation's:

- marking of any exam or non-exam assessment
- moderation of a teacher-marked assessment

Our rules also allow (but do not require) awarding organisations to accept requests for reviews of marking directly from individual students. Each awarding organisation can decide whether – and, if so, in what circumstances – it will accept requests from students. Most awarding organisations choose not to accept requests directly from students. Where this is the case, schools and colleges must give students the opportunity to appeal against any decision they take not to ask the awarding organisation for a review of marking, and any decision they take not to seek access to a student's script. If a school or college (or a student, where the awarding organisation allows them to) requests a review, the awarding organisation must carry one out in line with Ofqual's rules and communicate the outcome of the review to the school or college or student.

Private Candidates

Private candidates are entitled to request a review directly from the awarding organisation. Alternatively, a private candidate may ask the school or college (through which they entered for the qualification) to seek a review on their behalf.

Information to help decide whether to ask for a review

Awarding organisations must make mark schemes available to schools and colleges before their deadline for accepting reviews.

Schools, colleges and private candidates can also ask awarding organisations to give them access to marked GCSE, AS and A level scripts, and Technical

Qualifications within T Level marked assessment materials. This can help them decide whether to ask for a review.

Awarding organisations set a deadline for the receipt of requests for returned scripts. If a script is requested by their deadline, they must provide a copy of the student's marked script in time for the school, college or private candidate to decide whether to ask for the marking to be reviewed.

Priority review of marking

A school or college can request a priority review of marking if the outcome of the review will be used to access further or higher education. Awarding organisations will aim to complete priority reviews by **4 September** which is UCAS's advisory deadline for higher education providers to hold places open for students. Where a priority review has been requested, an awarding organisation may offer a different approach to its normal review process.

Reviews of exam scripts and other awarding organisation marked assessments

When reviewing any assessment it marked itself (for GCSE, AS, A level and Technical Qualifications within a T Level), an awarding organisation must arrange for a reviewer to consider whether the original marker made any errors when marking it. Reviewers must be specifically trained to undertake reviews, as the process of reviewing the way a question or a paper has been marked is different to marking the question or paper afresh. Reviewers must not have been involved with the original marking of the student's assessment. Awarding organisations must also monitor the way reviewers undertake reviews, to assure themselves reviewers are complying with our rules and are acting consistently.

A reviewer must:

- 1. Consider the original marking.
- 2. Decide whether there were any administrative errors in the marking. An administrative error typically occurs when a marker misses a question or does not properly total the marks for all questions. If any such errors (however large or small) are found, they must be corrected, and the grade adjusted if necessary.

- 3. Check, for each task or question for which there was only one possible right answer and therefore mark, whether the right mark was given for the student's answer. If the marker made an error when marking any such question, the reviewer must remark the question (however large or small the error). The new mark replaces the original one.
- 4. Decide, for questions or tasks for which a range of responses can earn credit, whether the original mark could have been given by a marker who properly applied the mark scheme to the answer and exercised his or her academic judgement in a reasonable way. An error is likely to have been made if the reviewer concludes:
 - a) that the original mark was unduly lenient or harsh, given the correct application of the mark scheme
 - b) a marker who had the appropriate subject knowledge and who had been trained to use the mark scheme would have been acting unreasonably in giving the mark
 - c) there was no rational basis for the mark
- 5. Re-mark the questions in respect of which the errors were made, however large or small the effect of the error.

If the reviewer finds a marking error, the reviewer's mark will replace the original mark and the awarding organisation must change the grade if necessary. Any new mark and grade awarded after the review could be higher or lower than that originally given. If the reviewer does not find a marking error the original mark must not be changed. The awarding organisation must tell the school or college, or individual student (where the request was accepted from an individual), the outcome of the review and must provide a reason for their decision.

Occasionally, a reviewer might find 2 or more different errors on review which, when corrected, result in no overall mark change, because they cancel each other out.

If the review raises questions about the accuracy of other students' results (including for Technical Qualifications within T Levels), the awarding organisation must extend the review to other students' papers who may have been affected. Where an awarding organisation discovers an incorrect result they will take appropriate action, having regard to any guidance published by Ofqual.

Reviews of moderation

A school or college can ask for the outcome of an awarding organisations' moderation to be reviewed by the awarding organisation if the moderation resulted in a change to the marks the school or college gave to the work. Awarding organisations do not provide reviews where the marks given by a centre were not changed following moderation. The request for a review of moderation must be made on behalf of the whole of the school or college's cohort for that component.

The awarding organisation will ask someone trained to do so to review the decisions taken by the original moderator to consider whether the moderator made any errors. The reviewer will look at the sample of work the original moderator reviewed.

As with reviews of exam marking, the reviewer will judge that there was an error if they conclude that:

- there was an administrative error
- any of the moderation decisions were unduly lenient or harsh
- any of the moderation decisions were unreasonable, from the point of view of a moderator who had the appropriate subject knowledge and who had been trained to moderate the assessment
- there was no rational basis for the moderation outcome

The awarding organisation must also make sure that any adjustments applied as a result of the original moderation were appropriate. If the reviewer does not find a moderation error and the awarding organisation judges any adjustments made were appropriate, the awarding organisation must not change the outcome.

If the reviewer finds an error in the original moderation and/or judges any adjustment made to be inappropriate, the awarding organisation must correct this. Also, where necessary, they must adjust students' marks so that all students receive an accurate mark and, where required, adjust students' grades.

If a review of moderation finds that a student had been given a grade that was too high, Ofqual has set a rule that requires that student's grades will not be lowered. This is because the review affects many students, and schools and colleges are unlikely to be able to get permission from everyone for a review to take place. There is no equivalent protection where a grade is judged to be too high in other circumstances, for example, if the awarding organisation finds it issued the wrong result due to an administrative error.

Reasons for the outcome of a review

We require awarding organisations to automatically provide reasons for the outcome of a review. Awarding organisations will have their own ways of providing reasons for review outcomes.

Appeals

If you remain concerned about an outcome following a review, you can appeal to the awarding organisation. Appeals for any qualification can be made on the grounds that:

 an awarding organisation did not apply its procedures consistently or that procedures were not followed properly and fairly

For GCSEs, AS and A levels (as well as project qualifications), and Technical Qualifications within T Levels, appeals can also be made on the basis that:

- there was an error in the original marking, or in the review of that marking that is, that:
 - an administrative error (such as adding up marks incorrectly) had not been corrected
 - · the mark scheme was not properly applied
 - the mark could not have been given by a trained marker, who had appropriate subject knowledge, and who had exercised their academic judgement in a reasonable way
- there was an error in the original moderation, or in the review of that moderation that is. that:
 - an administrative error (such as adding up marks incorrectly) had not been corrected
 - any of the moderation decisions were unreasonable, from the point of view of a moderator who had the appropriate subject knowledge and who had been trained to moderate the assessment
 - there was no rational basis for the moderation outcome

Appeals can also be made in respect of:

- decisions regarding requests for reasonable adjustments and special consideration
- decisions regarding actions taken following an investigation into malpractice or maladministration

The setting of a grade boundary cannot be the subject of an appeal.

An awarding organisation must make sure that those making appeal decisions are competent to do so and have no personal interest in the outcome. They also must not have been involved in the original marking or moderation or the review of the marking or moderation. The final decision must involve at least one decision maker who is not connected to the awarding organisation.

Ofqual's rules allow (but do not require) awarding organisations to accept appeals directly from individual students. Each awarding organisation can decide whether – and, if so, in what circumstances – it will accept appeals from

students. Most awarding organisations choose not to accept appeals directly from students. Where this is the case, awarding organisations must make sure schools or colleges give students the chance to appeal if they decide against asking the awarding organisation for further action.

If a school or college (or a student, where the awarding organisation allows them to) seeks an appeal, the awarding organisation must carry one out in line with our rules and communicate the outcome of the appeal to the school or college, or student.

An awarding organisation may choose to offer the school or college (or individual student whose appeal was accepted by the awarding organisation) the opportunity to attempt to resolve the disagreement without the need for a full and formal appeal hearing. This is not something we require, and the opportunity for a full appeal must remain available.

Each VTQ awarding organisation will have its own appeals policy. You should check any specific details directly with them.

Private candidates

Private candidates are entitled to appeal directly to the awarding organisation. Alternatively, a private candidate may ask the school or college (through which they entered for the qualification) to appeal on their behalf.

Review of other administrative decisions

Schools and colleges can request a review of an administrative decision where an awarding organisation has made a decision involving an element of judgement which has affected a student's results. Some decisions could be, for example, decisions taken in cases of very late arrival; cases of missing scripts, or the use of aegrotats or estimated grades. A school or college should request a review of an administrative decision directly to the awarding organisation.

Timelines for reviews and appeals

Each awarding organisation must set and publish its own timelines, including the deadlines by which requests for a review or an appeal must be received. Our rules do not specify set dates for the completion of reviews and appeals but do set out minimum timescales that awarding organisations must meet. These ensure common, minimum timelines for students and schools or colleges.

Fees

Awarding organisations can charge a fee for reviews of marking, reviews of moderation and considering an appeal. They must publish the fees they will charge and be clear about any circumstances in which they will not charge.

The Exam Procedures Review Service

Schools and colleges that are not satisfied with the result of an appeal can ask Ofqual to review the case through the Exam procedures review service (EPRS (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/exam-procedures-review-service)). We will look at whether the awarding organisation has followed our rules and its own procedures correctly. Ofqual will not review or remark a students work as part of the EPRS process.

We cannot tell the awarding organisation to change a student's grade. The grade will only change if the awarding organisation decides the grade was wrong and needs to be corrected. It is important to remember that a new grade could be higher or lower.

EPRS is only available for:

- GCSEs, AS and A levels
- Technical Qualifications within a T Level
- Level 3 Project qualifications (EPQ)

Applications to EPRS can only be made by schools or college, or directly in the case of private candidates (such as home-educated students). Applications can only be made once the awarding organisation's appeal process has been completed. Applications should be made within 15 working days of receiving the final appeal decision from the awarding organisation.

For more information about EPRS <u>please contact us</u> (https://contact.ofqual.gov.uk/contact-ofqual/start).

Resits

Most exams for GCSEs, AS and A levels take place in May or June each year. That means most students who want to resit a GCSE, AS or A level will need to wait until the following summer to do so.

In GCSE English language and GCSE mathematics, exams are also available in November, but only for students who were aged 16 or above on 31 August of that year.

Some VTQs operate assessments throughout the year. Students may be able to take their assessment again, at the next available opportunity. Please contact your awarding organisation for details.

Complaints

Ofqual wants all users of organisations and qualifications we regulate to receive a good service and to have things put right when they go wrong. We encourage you to contact us through our online portal

(https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofqual/about/complaints-procedure) if something has gone wrong.

In order for us to investigate your complaint or concern we may require some specific information to help us investigate your complaint and we will help you through this process.

You will be able to give details of your complaint or concern and attach documents within this service. You can use our portal to:

- make a complaint
- · report a concern of wrongdoing, risk or malpractice
- raise a concern as a whistleblower
- · manage an existing complaint or concern

You can report your concerns via our <u>malpractice reporting procedure</u> (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reporting-malpractice-allegations).

Whistleblowing

Whistleblowing to Ofqual is one way in which a member of staff in a school or college can raise a concern about wrongdoing, risk or malpractice. This may

relate to:

- · exams, such as GCSEs and A levels
- assessment of VTQs listed on the <u>Register of Regulated Qualifications</u> (https://register.ofqual.gov.uk/)
- activities of exam boards or awarding organisations which we regulate

We encourage you to contact Ofqual if you wish to raise a concern (called 'making a disclosure') about the activities of awarding organisations and the qualifications they offer. If you want to 'blow the whistle' to us, we encourage you to:

- 1. read the GOV.UK page on whistleblowing (https://www.gov.uk/whistleblowing)
- 2. report the concerns to your employer first, if you feel that you are able to
- 3. seek independent legal advice to satisfy yourself that you are protected by law, if you wish to report to Ofqual
- 4. make sure what you are reporting actually counts as whistleblowing

You can find more information on whistleblowing in Ofqual's <u>whistleblowing</u> <u>policy (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ofquals-whistleblowing-policy)</u>.

Further information and useful links

Ofqual

You can find the most up to date information about the arrangements for 2023 to 2024 on Ofqual's rolling update (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ofqual-rolling-update).

Ofqual's Student Guide (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofqual-student-guide-2024) is now available for all students.

The following resources are available to support exams officers in their roles:

- Ofqual resources to support exams officers
 (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/resources-to-help-support-exams-officers-in-their-roles)
- The Exams Office's support materials (https://www.theexamsoffice.org/key-documents/)
- JCQ's Exams Office section (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/)

For public enquiries: contact Ofqual (https://contact.ofqual.gov.uk/)

Public enquiry phone line: 0300 303 3344.

Our phone line is normally open from 9am to 5pm on weekdays. Please check our website for opening times on and after results days.

If you want to complain to Ofqual about an exam board or awarding organisation, for example, because you think they have not followed either their own policies and procedures or Ofqual's rules, please follow our complaints-procedure (https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofqual/about/complaints-procedure). We would usually expect you to give the awarding organisation a chance to resolve your complaint by using their complaints process before coming to us.

Joint Council for Qualifications

The Joint Council for Qualifications (JCQ) (https://www.jcq.org.uk/) is the exam boards' membership organisation (AQA, OCR, Pearson and WJEC). Exam boards use JCQ to set common policies and procedures that schools and colleges must follow.

JCQ's members also include Council for the Curriculum, Examinations & Assessment (CCEA), City and Guilds, NCFE and the Scottish Qualifications Authority (SQA), developing and delivering many VTQs in England.

JCQ has produced <u>information for candidates (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/information-for-candidates-documents/)</u> so that your students are fully prepared and understand the regulations. This includes an exam day checklist and social media information.

JCQ has also published <u>its updated instructions for conducting examinations</u> (https://www.jcq.org.uk/exams-office/ice---instructions-for-conducting-examinations/) to enable all schools and colleges to administer examinations and assessments consistently and securely so that the integrity of the assessment process can be maintained.

Information and contact: JCQ website (https://www.jcq.org.uk/contact/)

National Careers Service

The National Careers Service (https://nationalcareers.service.gov.uk/) provides free and impartial careers advice, information and guidance. The service is available

to anyone aged 13 or over. The NCS runs an exam results helpline from level 3 results day to a week after level 2 results day.

Telephone: 0800 100 900

Lines are open from 8am to 8pm Monday to Friday and 10am to 5pm on Saturdays. Calls are free from landlines and most mobile numbers.

UCAS

<u>UCAS (https://www.ucas.com/)</u>, the Universities and Colleges Admissions Service, is an independent charity, and the UK's shared admissions service for higher education.

For any questions about higher education application and admissions, you should contact the relevant institution directly.

Telephone: 0371 468 0 468

Lines are open Monday to Friday, 8:30am to 6pm.

Equality Advisory and Support Services

Equality Advisory and Support Service (EASS) (https://www.equalityadvisoryservice.com/) advises and assists individuals on issues relating to equality and human rights, across England, Scotland and Wales.

Telephone: 0808 800 0082

Lines are open from 9am to 7pm Monday to Friday and 10am to 2pm on Saturdays. Calls are free from landlines and most mobile numbers.

Mental health support for students

Students may find it helpful to read our <u>resources on preparing for exams</u> (https://ofqual.blog.gov.uk/2022/02/10/what-sorts-of-things-might-help-you-prepare-for-exams/) – including Ofqual's <u>guide to coping with exam pressure</u> (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coping-with-exam-pressure-a-guide-for-students).

Other organisations

<u>Childline (https://www.childline.org.uk/)</u> is a service provided by the NSPCC offering confidential support and advice to children and young people.

Mind (https://www.mind.org.uk/) is a charity providing mental health support for anyone experiencing a mental health problem.

Young Minds (https://www.youngminds.org.uk/) is a charity working to improve emotional well-being and mental health among children and young people.

Children and young people's mental health services (CYPMHS) (https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/mental-health-services/mental-health-services-for-young-people/children-young-people-mental-health-services-cypmhs/) are services that work with children and young people who have difficulties with their mental health or wellbeing.

↑ Back to top

OGL

All content is available under the <u>Open Government</u> Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated

© Crown copyright